

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF AMENDMENTS
OF SUPREME COURT RULES
RELATING TO ATTORNEY
MISCONDUCT; SCRS 99-122

ADKT 0608

FILED

SEP 26 2023

ELIZABETH A. BROWN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY 
CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK

ORDER AMENDING SUPREME COURT RULES 99 THROUGH 122

WHEREAS, on February 10, 2023, the Board of Governors of the State Bar of Nevada filed a petition in this court seeking to amend Supreme Court Rules (SCR) 99 through 122, related to attorney misconduct.

WHEREAS, this court solicited public comment on the petition and a public hearing was held in this matter on March 21, 2023; accordingly,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the proposed amendments to SCR 99 through 122 shall be adopted and shall read as set forth in Exhibit A.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the amendments to SCR 99 through 122 shall be effective 30 days from the date of this order. The clerk of this court shall cause a notice of entry of this order to be published in the official publication of the State Bar of Nevada. Publication of this order shall be accomplished by the clerk disseminating copies of this order to all subscribers of the advance sheets of the Nevada Reports and all persons and agencies listed in NRS 2.345, and to the executive director of the State Bar of Nevada. The certificate of the clerk of this court as to the accomplishment

of the above-described publication of notice of entry and dissemination of this order shall be conclusive evidence of the adoption and publication of the foregoing rule amendments.

Dated this 26TH day of September, 2023.

Stiglich, C.J.
Stiglich

Cadish, J.
Cadish

Pickering, J.
Pickering

Herndon, J.
Herndon

Lee, J.
Lee

Parraguirre, J.
Parraguirre

Bell, J.
Bell

cc: Julie Cavanaugh-Bill, President, State Bar of Nevada
Kimberly Farmer, Executive Director, State Bar of Nevada
All District Court Judges
Clark County Bar Association
Washoe County Bar Association
First Judicial District Bar Association
Douglas County Bar Association
Elko County Bar Association
Administrative Office of the Courts

EXHIBIT A

AMENDMENT TO SUPREME COURT RULES 99, 101-111, and 113-122

D. MISCONDUCT

Rule 99. Jurisdiction.

1. Every attorney admitted to practice law in Nevada, specially admitted by a court of this state for a particular proceeding, practicing law here, whether specially admitted or not, or whose advertising for legal services regularly appears in Nevada is subject to the exclusive disciplinary jurisdiction of the supreme court and the disciplinary boards and ~~[hearing]~~ disciplinary panels created by these rules.

2. Nothing contained in these rules denies any court the power to maintain control over proceedings conducted before it, such as the power of contempt, nor do these rules prohibit any association from censuring, suspending, or expelling its members.

Rule 100. Disciplinary districts. Disciplinary jurisdiction in this state shall be divided into a southern district and a northern district. The southern district shall consist of the counties of Clark, Esmeralda, Lincoln, Nye, and White Pine. The northern district shall consist of the counties of Carson City, Churchill, Douglas, Elko, Eureka, Humboldt, Lander, Lyon, Mineral, Pershing, Storey, and Washoe.

Rule 101. Grounds for discipline. Conviction of a crime or acts of omission by an attorney, including contempt of a hearing panel, individually or in concert with another person, which violate the rules of the supreme court

or the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct are misconduct and constitute grounds for discipline.

Rule 102. [~~Types of discipline. Misconduct is grounds for:~~]
Decisions regarding a grievance. The filing of a grievance may result in:

1. Issuance of any of the following sanctions:

(a) Irrevocable disbarment by the supreme court.

~~[2.]~~ (b) Suspension by the supreme court for a fixed term. A suspension of 6 months or less shall not require proof of rehabilitation; a suspension of more than 6 months shall require proof of rehabilitation to be demonstrated in a reinstatement proceeding under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 116. A suspension, or portion thereof, may be stayed pending compliance with probationary terms. Probation procedures shall be consistent with SCR 105.5.

~~[3.]~~ (c) Temporary restraining order regarding funds.

~~[(a)]~~ (1) On the petition of bar counsel, supported by an affidavit alleging facts personally known to the affiant which shows that an attorney appears to be causing great harm by misappropriating funds to ~~[his or her]~~ their own use, a district court of this state in the county where the attorney resides, where ~~[he or she maintains]~~ they maintain an office, or where the alleged acts occurred, may issue an order, in the same manner and under the same provisions of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, not inconsistent with this rule, as a temporary restraining order is issued, which restricts the attorney in the handling of funds entrusted to ~~[him or her]~~ them or over which the attorney has the power of disposition.

~~[(b)]~~ (2) An order entered pursuant to the preceding paragraph may also prescribe the manner in which fees or other funds received from or on behalf of clients are to be handled during the existence of the order. When

served on either the attorney or a depository in which the attorney maintains an account, the order is also an injunction against withdrawals from the account except in accordance with the terms of the order. In preparing such an order, due consideration shall be given to whether the account(s) affected by it are maintained by the attorney alone or whether there are other people whose right to withdraw funds may be affected.

~~[(e)]~~ (3) Unless it is deemed necessary by the district court, a bond shall not be required for an order under this rule. The duration of the order and proceedings to dissolve it are governed by ~~[Rule 65 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure,]~~ NRCP 65, unless the order is superseded by an order of the supreme court pursuant to the next paragraph of this rule.

~~[4.]~~ (d) Temporary suspension by the supreme court.

~~[(a)]~~ (1) Following a hearing and upon entry of a hearing panel's recommendation for disbarment pursuant to SCR 105(2)(e) and served upon the attorney in accordance with SCR 105(3)(a), bar counsel may file a petition with the supreme court requesting the immediate temporary suspension of the attorney. The decision of the hearing panel shall accompany the petition.

~~[(b)]~~ (2) On the petition of bar counsel, supported by an affidavit alleging facts personally known to the affiant, which shows that an attorney appears to be posing a substantial threat of serious harm to the public, the supreme court may order, with notice as the court may prescribe, the attorney's immediate temporary suspension or may impose other conditions upon the attorney's practice. If a petition is filed under subsection ~~[3]~~ 1(c) of this rule, a separate petition under this subsection must be filed with the supreme court as soon thereafter as possible.

~~[(e)]~~ (3) A temporary order may restrict an attorney in the handling of funds entrusted to the attorney or over which the attorney has the

power of disposition, or, if appropriate, direct the attorney to establish a trust account in accordance with conditions prescribed in the order. When served on either the attorney or a depository in which the attorney maintains an account, the order is also an injunction against withdrawals from the account except in accordance with the terms of the order. An order of the supreme court that restricts the handling of funds by an attorney supersedes an order entered by the district court pursuant to subsection ~~[3]~~ 1(c) of this rule.

~~[(d)]~~ (4) An order of temporary suspension precludes the attorney from accepting new cases but does not preclude the attorney from continuing to represent existing clients during the first 15 days after service of the order unless the court orders otherwise. Fees and other funds received from or on behalf of clients during this 15-day period shall be deposited in a trust account from which withdrawals may be made only in accordance with the conditions imposed by the order.

~~[(e)]~~ (5) The attorney may request dissolution or amendment of the temporary order of suspension by petition filed with the supreme court, a copy of which shall be served on bar counsel. The petition may be set for immediate hearing before a hearing panel, to hear the petition and submit its report and recommendation to the court within 7 days of the conclusion of the hearing. Upon receipt of the report and recommendation, the court may modify its order, if appropriate, and continue such provisions of it as may be appropriate until the final disposition of all pending disciplinary charges against the attorney.

~~[5. Public reprimand or letter of reprimand,]~~ (e) Reprimand, with or without conditions, ~~[including but not limited to restitution, a fine, or both a reprimand and a fine,]~~ as referenced below, imposed by the supreme ~~[court.~~

~~6. Public reprimand or letter of reprimand, with or without conditions, including but not limited to restitution, a fine of up to \$1,000, or both a reprimand and a fine, imposed by] court or a hearing panel of the disciplinary board.~~

~~[7. Letter of reprimand, with or without conditions, including but not limited to restitution, a fine of up to \$1,000, or both a reprimand and a fine, imposed by a screening panel of the disciplinary board pursuant to Rule 105(1).~~

~~8. Letter of caution imposed by a hearing or screening panel of the disciplinary board and issued by bar counsel, or imposed by the supreme court, which is a dismissal but cautions the attorney regarding specific conduct and/or disciplinary rules. A letter of caution]~~

(f) Admonition imposed by a screening panel pursuant to SCR 105(1) with the consent of the respondent. The screening panel chair shall issue the admonition in writing, and bar counsel shall serve it upon the respondent. Admonitions are private discipline. A screening panel may impose an admonition only in cases of minor misconduct, when there is little or no injury to a client, the public, the legal system, or the profession, and when there is little likelihood the respondent will repeat the misconduct. Bar counsel shall publish all admonitions in the bar publication for the education of the profession but shall not identify the respondent therein. Bar counsel may use an admonition in subsequent proceedings as an aggravating factor after the disciplinary panel has found the respondent guilty of misconduct or as otherwise permitted by the rules of evidence. A screening panel may impose an admonition with or without conditions, as set forth below.

A screening panel may not issue an admonition if the respondent:

(1) Misappropriated client funds;

(2) Caused substantial injury;

(3) Received an admonition for similar misconduct within the last 5 years;

(4) Received an admonition or any public discipline within the last 3 years;

(5) Engaged in dishonesty, deceit, fraud, or misrepresentation; or

(6) Committed a “serious crime” as defined in SCR 111.

(g) Admonition, with or without conditions, as referenced above, imposed by the supreme court or hearing panel of the disciplinary board.

2. In addition to any of the aforementioned sanctions except disbarment, upon order of the supreme court or a panel of the disciplinary board, or upon stipulation, an attorney can be required to pay restitution to persons financially injured, disgorge all or part of the attorney’s or law firm’s fee, reimburse the client security fund, pay a fine of up to \$1,000, and/or comply with additional conditions intended to create protection of the public or increase confidence in the integrity of the profession.

3. A dismissal, with or without cautionary language, by a screening panel, hearing panel, or the supreme court. Cautionary language may not be used as an aggravating factor in any subsequent disciplinary [proceeding.] proceeding but does serve as notice to the attorney regarding specific conduct.

Rule 102.5. [Aggravation and mitigation. Aggravating and] Factors to be considered in imposing sanctions.

1. In imposing a sanction after a finding of attorney misconduct, the disciplinary panel or supreme court shall consider the following factors:

(a) Whether the attorney has violated a duty owed to a client, to the public, to the legal system, or to the profession;

(b) Whether the attorney acted intentionally, knowingly, or negligently;

(c) The amount of the actual or potential injury caused by the attorney's misconduct; and

(d) The existence of any aggravating or mitigating ~~circumstances may be considered in deciding what sanction to impose and may be admitted into evidence at a disciplinary hearing.~~ factors.

2. Using the first three factors in SCR 102.5(1)(a)-(c), the disciplinary panel or supreme court shall determine a baseline or presumptive sanction. The disciplinary panel or supreme court may then consider any aggravating or mitigating factors to increase or decrease the sanction.

~~[1.]~~ 3. Aggravating circumstances are any considerations or factors that may justify an increase in the degree of discipline to be imposed. The following list of examples is illustrative and is not exclusive:

(a) ~~[prior]~~ Prior disciplinary offenses;

(b) ~~[dishonest]~~ Dishonest or selfish motive;

(c) ~~[a]~~ A pattern of misconduct;

(d) ~~[multiple]~~ Multiple offenses;

(e) ~~[bad]~~ Bad faith obstruction of the disciplinary proceeding by intentionally failing to comply with rules or orders;

(f) ~~[submission]~~ Submission of false evidence, false statements, or other deceptive practices during the disciplinary hearing;

(g) ~~[refusal]~~ Refusal to acknowledge the wrongful nature of conduct;

(h) ~~[vulnerability]~~ Vulnerability of victim;

(i) ~~[substantial]~~ Substantial experience in the practice of law;

(j) ~~[indifference]~~ Indifference to making restitution;

(k) ~~[illegal]~~ Illegal conduct, including that involving the use of controlled substances.

~~[2.]~~ 4. Mitigating circumstances are any considerations or factors that may justify a reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed. The following list of examples is illustrative and is not exclusive:

- (a) ~~[absence]~~ Absence of a prior disciplinary record;
- (b) ~~[absence]~~ Absence of a dishonest or selfish motive;
- (c) ~~[personal]~~ Personal or emotional problems;
- (d) ~~[timely]~~ Timely good faith effort to make restitution or to rectify consequences of misconduct;
- (e) ~~[full]~~ Full and free disclosure to disciplinary authority or cooperative attitude toward proceeding;
- (f) ~~[inexperience]~~ Inexperience in the practice of law;
- (g) ~~[character]~~ Character or reputation;
- (h) ~~[physical]~~ Physical disability;
- (i) ~~[mental]~~ Mental disability or chemical dependency including alcoholism or drug abuse when:
 - (1) ~~[there]~~ There is medical evidence that the ~~[respondent]~~ attorney is affected by chemical dependency or a mental disability;
 - (2) ~~[the]~~ The chemical dependency or mental disability caused the misconduct;
 - (3) ~~[the respondent's]~~ The attorney's recovery from the chemical dependency or mental disability is demonstrated by a meaningful and sustained period of successful rehabilitation; and
 - (4) ~~[the]~~ The recovery arrested the misconduct and recurrence of that misconduct is unlikely;
- (j) ~~[delay]~~ Delay in disciplinary proceedings;

- (k) ~~[interim]~~ Interim rehabilitation;
- (l) ~~[imposition]~~ Imposition of other penalties or sanctions;
- (m) ~~[remorse;]~~ Remorse;
- (n) ~~[remoteness]~~ Remoteness of prior offenses.

[3.] 5. Factors ~~[which]~~ that should not be considered as either aggravating or mitigating include:

- (a) ~~[forced]~~ Forced or compelled restitution;
- (b) ~~[agreeing]~~ Agreeing to a client's demand for improper behavior;
- (c) ~~[withdrawal]~~ Withdrawal of grievance against the lawyer;
- (d) ~~[resignation]~~ Resignation prior to completion of disciplinary proceedings;
- (e) ~~[grievant's]~~ Grievant's recommendation as to sanction;
- (f) ~~[failure]~~ Failure of injured client to complain.

Rule 103. Disciplinary boards and ~~[hearing]~~ disciplinary panels.

1. The board of governors shall appoint two disciplinary boards of at least 47 members each, one to serve the northern district and one to serve the southern district, as constituted in ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 100. Each disciplinary board shall consist of at least 35 members of the bar of Nevada, other than persons holding judicial office or membership on the board of governors, and at least 12 ~~[non-lawyers.]~~ non-attorneys. Each member shall reside in the district served by the board. The board of governors may appoint any additional members to serve on either disciplinary board as it deems necessary.

2. Members of the disciplinary boards shall serve at the pleasure of the board of governors, or for a term of ~~[three]~~ 3 years, subject to reappointment for three additional terms. No member may serve on the disciplinary boards for more than a lifetime total of ~~[twelve]~~ 12 years.

3. The board of governors shall appoint one attorney member as chair of each disciplinary board and another attorney member as vice chair to act in the absence or direction of the chair. The chair and vice chair shall serve for a term of ~~[one]~~ 1 year, subject to reappointment for such additional terms as the board of governors may deem appropriate.

4. Disciplinary board members shall not receive compensation for their ~~[services]~~ services, but the state bar may ~~[be reimbursed]~~ reimburse board members for their travel and other expenses incidental to the performance of their duties.

5. The chair of each disciplinary board shall preside over all motions or other requests relating to pending proceedings until such time as a hearing panel chair is designated to preside over the proceeding, as provided in ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 103(6).

6. The chair or vice chair of each disciplinary board shall designate hearing and screening panels of three members, consisting of two ~~[lawyers]~~ attorneys and one ~~[non-lawyer.]~~ non-attorney. The chair or vice chair shall assign hearing cases to hearing panels and designate ~~[a-lawyer]~~ an attorney as chair of each. The designated hearing panel chair shall preside over ~~[any and]~~ all motions or other requests. A hearing panel shall:

(a) Conduct hearings pursuant to ~~[S.C.R.]~~ SCR 105.5(6) to determine if there is a breach of ~~[diversion]~~ a probation, diversion, or mentoring agreement.

(b) Conduct hearings on formal complaints of misconduct and matters arising under ~~[S.C.R.]~~ SCR 116 and 117.

(c) File its findings and recommendations with bar counsel's office.

7. Hearing panel members shall not participate in any proceeding in which a judge similarly situated would be required to abstain. Any member

whose term expires while the member's panel is considering a complaint shall remain a member until its disposition.

8. The chairs of the hearing panels and screening panels shall deliver reprimands and sign all documents on behalf of the panel to carry out the provisions of ~~[Rules]~~ SCR 102(6), 102(7), and 103(6).

9. A grievance received against a member of a disciplinary board and processed in accordance with ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 105(1) shall be referred to the other disciplinary board.

Rule 104. State bar counsel.

1. State bar counsel ~~[shall:~~

~~(a) Investigate]~~ shall perform all ~~[matters involving possible attorney misconduct or incapacity called to bar counsel's attention, whether by grievance or otherwise.]~~ prosecutorial functions and have the following powers and duties:

(a) To investigate all information coming to the attention of the agency that, if true, would be grounds for discipline or transfer to disability inactive status and investigate all facts pertaining to petitions for reinstatement;

(b) ~~[Subject to Rule 105(1), dispose of all]~~ To dismiss grievances that do not assert a violation of the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct and to dismiss matters involving alleged misconduct ~~[by dismissal of]~~ with the ~~[allegation(s)]~~ approval of a screening panel or ~~[by]~~ the ~~[filing]~~ chair of a ~~[written complaint.]~~ formal hearing panel;

(c) ~~[Prosecute]~~ To prosecute all proceedings under these rules before all forums in the name of the State Bar of ~~[Nevada.]~~ Nevada;

(d) ~~[File]~~ To file petitions with the supreme court ~~[petitions]~~ with certified copies of proof of conviction demonstrating that attorneys have been convicted of serious crimes, as defined in ~~[Rule 111.]~~ SCR 111;

(e) ~~[Maintain]~~ To notify promptly the grievant and the respondent of the status and the disposition of each matter, including but not limited to providing to the grievant;

(1) A copy of any written communication from the respondent to the bar counsel relating to the matter except information that is subject to the privilege of one other than the complainant;

(2) A concise written statement of the facts and reasons a matter has been dismissed prior to a hearing and a copy of the written guidelines for dismissal, provided that the grievant shall be given a reasonable opportunity to rebut statements of the respondent before the grievance is dismissed; and

(3) A notice of the date, time, and location of the hearing.

(f) To maintain permanent records of all matters investigated under these rules except as otherwise required under ~~[Rule 121.]~~ SCR 121; and

(g) To employ and supervise staff needed for the performance of the aforementioned duties.

2. Bar counsel may meet with an attorney against whom a grievance has been received to informally resolve a matter ~~[that does not involve the commission of a serious crime,]~~ involving minor misconduct, as defined in ~~[these rules,]~~ SCR 105.5(1)(d), including directing the attorney to participate in fee dispute arbitration, substance abuse counseling, obtain Continuing Legal Education credit(s), ~~[and/or]~~ or other appropriate remedial measures.

3. Bar counsel shall not render advisory opinions, either orally or in writing, although bar counsel may provide informal guidance on the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct to callers through the ethics hotline.

4. In addition to complying with the Rules of Professional Conduct regarding successive government and private employment (RPC 1.11), a former bar counsel shall not personally represent a respondent in any proceeding governed by these rules for a period of 1 year following completion of the bar counsel's service.

5. A grievance against bar counsel or bar counsel's staff shall be investigated at the direction of the president of the state bar and heard by the board of governors. A decision of the board of governors against bar counsel may be appealed to the supreme court under the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Rule 105. Procedure on receipt of complaint.

1. Investigation.

(a) Investigation and screening panel review. Investigations shall be initiated and conducted by bar counsel or bar counsel's staff or other investigative personnel at bar counsel's direction prior or pursuant to the opening of a grievance file. At the conclusion of an investigation of a grievance file, bar counsel shall recommend in writing dismissal with or without prejudice, referral to diversion or mentoring pursuant to **[Rule]** SCR 105.5, ~~**[a letter of caution, a letter of reprimand,]**~~ an admonition, or the filing of a written complaint for formal proceedings. The recommendation shall be promptly reviewed by a screening panel. A screening panel shall consist of three members of the disciplinary board, appointed by the chair or vice chair in accordance with **[Rule]** SCR 103(6). Two of the three reviewers must be members of the bar. By majority vote they shall approve, reject, or modify the recommendation, or continue the matter for review by another screening panel.

(b) Notice and election. The ~~[attorney]~~ respondent shall be notified by bar counsel in writing of a decision by a screening panel to issue ~~[a letter of reprimand]~~ an admonition and shall be served with the notification and ~~[letter of reprimand]~~ admonition in the manner prescribed by ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 109(1). The ~~[attorney]~~ respondent shall have 14 days after receipt of the notice within which to serve on bar counsel written objections to the issuance of the ~~[letter of reprimand]~~ admonition along with the basis of the objections.

(c) Hearing. Upon receipt by bar counsel of written objections to the issuance of ~~[a letter of reprimand]~~ within the time prescribed, ~~[the matter]~~ bar counsel shall ~~[be set for a hearing]~~ file a complaint and commence formal proceedings in accordance with ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 105(2). The issuance of ~~[a letter of reprimand]~~ an admonition not objected to by the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent within 14 days of notice shall be final and shall not be appealable. A screening panel member who has reviewed bar counsel's recommendation on a grievance shall not be appointed to a hearing panel for any subsequent and related proceedings. Except in matters requiring dismissal because the grievance is frivolous or clearly unfounded on its face, or falls outside the disciplinary board's jurisdiction, or is resolved informally pursuant to ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 104(2), a panel shall not make a finding of misconduct until the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent has been given an opportunity to respond to the allegations against the ~~[attorney.]~~ respondent.

(d) Appeal of a screening panel's dismissal of a grievance. Bar counsel may appeal a decision to dismiss a grievance to a hearing panel appointed by the chair or vice chair of the respective northern or southern disciplinary board. The chair of the respective board shall be one of the members on the panel and shall serve as chair of the panel. The panel shall determine whether the decision is supported by the record and is in the best interests of justice.

Such an appeal must be filed with bar counsel's office and served upon the chair of the appropriate disciplinary board within 20 days of receipt of the decision by filing and serving a petition, together with the record of the matter being appealed. The petition shall contain the name and address of the appropriate northern or southern disciplinary board chair and identify the chair as the person to whom the petition must be sent. The chair shall issue an order advising the **[attorney]** respondent or bar counsel of when any answering or other brief is due. The panel shall decide the matter on the record without oral argument or appearance and shall issue a written decision.

2. Commencement of formal proceedings. Formal disciplinary proceedings are commenced by bar counsel filing a written complaint in the name of the state bar. The complaint shall be sufficiently clear and specific to inform the **[attorney]** respondent of the charges against ~~[him or her]~~ them and the underlying conduct supporting the charges. A copy of the complaint shall be served on the **[attorney]** respondent, and it shall direct that a verified response or answer be served on bar counsel within ~~[20]~~ 21 days of service; the original shall be filed with bar counsel's office. The time to respond may be extended once by the chair for not more than ~~[20]~~ 21 days for good cause or upon stipulation of the parties. In the event the **[attorney]** respondent fails to plead, bar counsel shall enter a default and the charges shall be deemed admitted; provided, however, that ~~[an attorney]~~ a respondent who fails to respond within the time provided may thereafter move to set aside the default with the appropriate ~~[chair to do so,]~~ chair, if failure to file is attributable to mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.

(a) Challenges to and ad hoc appointments of panel members. The complaint shall be served with the list of members of the appropriate disciplinary board. The **[attorney,]** respondent, or each if more than one, and

bar counsel may exercise five peremptory challenges each to the people on the list by ~~[delivering]~~ filing such in writing ~~[to bar counsel]~~ on or before the date a response to the complaint is due. Peremptory challenges will not be part of the public record.

Challenges to any member for cause under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 103(7) shall be made as soon as possible after receiving either actual or constructive notice of the grounds for ~~[disqualification,]~~ disqualification and shall be made by motion to the chair in accordance with these rules. In no event will a motion seeking the disqualification of a member be timely if the member has already heard, ~~[considered]~~ considered, or ruled upon any contested matter, except as to grounds based on fraud or ~~[like]~~ similar illegal ~~[conduct]~~ conduct, of which the challenging party had no notice until after the contested matter was considered. Any challenge that is not raised in a timely manner shall be deemed waived.

The chair or vice chair may make ad hoc appointments to replace designated panel members in the event of challenges or disqualification. Ad hoc appointees shall be subject to disqualification under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 103(7) and any timely remaining peremptory challenges unexercised by either the ~~[attorney(s)]~~ respondent(s) or bar counsel. A hearing panel as finally constituted shall include a ~~[non-lawyer,]~~ non-attorney.

(b) Assignment for hearing panel and chair. Within 30 days, following service of a responsive pleading, or ~~[upon failure]~~ if the respondent failed to ~~[plead, the matter shall be assigned by]~~ file a responsive pleading, the chair or vice chair of the disciplinary board shall assign the matter to a hearing panel chair, who shall preside over ~~[any and]~~ all motions or other requests as provided by SCR 103(6) and the subsequent hearing. Thereafter, the ~~[remaining hearing panel members shall be assigned by the]~~ chair or

vice chair of the disciplinary ~~[board.]~~ board shall assign the remaining hearing panel members.

(c) Venue. Venue shall be the county in which the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent resides or maintains ~~[his or her]~~ their principal office for the practice of law, where the alleged offense was committed or where the parties have stipulated. If the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent neither resides nor maintains ~~[his or her]~~ a principal office in Nevada, or has left the state to avoid proceedings under these rules, the hearing may be conducted in any county designated by the chair of the disciplinary board.

(d) Time to conduct hearing; notice of ~~[hearing; discovery of evidence against attorney. The hearing panel shall conduct a]~~ hearing. Within 14 days of appointment, the panel chair shall hold an initial case conference with the parties for the purpose of obtaining admissions or otherwise narrowing the issues presented by the pleadings. During the conference, the panel chair shall set a time and a place for a hearing, which hearing shall be within 45 days of [assignment and] the initial case conference. If the respondent fails to attend the initial case conference, then the panel chair shall give the [attorney] respondent at least 30 days' written notice of [its] the hearing's time and place. The notice shall be served in the same manner as the [complaint,] complaint and shall inform the [attorney] respondent that [he or she is] they are entitled to be represented by counsel, to cross-examine witnesses, and to present evidence. [The notice shall be accompanied by a summary prepared by bar counsel of the evidence against the attorney, and the names of the witnesses bar counsel intends to call for other than impeachment, together with a brief statement of the facts to which each will testify, all of which may be inspected up to 3 days prior to the hearing. Witnesses or evidence, other than for

~~impeachment, which became known to bar counsel thereafter, and which bar counsel intends to use at the hearing, shall be promptly disclosed to the attorney.]~~ For good cause shown, the chair may allow additional time, not to exceed 90 days, to conduct the hearing. ~~[Hearings may be conducted remotely by stipulation of the parties or when ordered by the panel chair, for good cause shown.]~~

(e) Quorum; time for decision of panel; votes required to impose discipline. ~~[Any three, if]~~ All three members of a ~~[three-member panel, or five, if a five-member panel, shall]~~ panel must be present to constitute a quorum. The hearing panel shall render a written decision within 30 days of the conclusion of the hearing, unless post-hearing briefs are requested by either bar counsel or the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent and allowed by the panel or requested by the chair, in which event the decision shall be rendered within 60 days of the conclusion of the hearing. The decision shall be served pursuant to ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 109(1), accompanied by the panel's findings and recommendation, all of which shall be filed with bar counsel's office. A decision to impose or recommend discipline requires the concurrence of any two members of ~~[a three-member panel or three members of a five-member]~~ the disciplinary panel.

(f) Rules of evidence; support of panel's decision. The rules applicable to the admission of evidence in the district courts of Nevada govern admission of evidence before a hearing panel. Evidentiary rulings shall be made by the chair of the panel, if one has been designated, or by the chair of the appropriate disciplinary board prior to such a designation. The findings of the panel must be supported by clear and convincing evidence.

(g) Court reporter. All hearings shall be reported by a certified court reporter, which cost may be assessed against the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent

pursuant to ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 120. Any party desiring to have any other disciplinary proceedings reported must arrange in advance for a certified court reporter at the party's own expense.

3. Review by supreme court.

(a) Time and manner of appeal. A decision of a hearing panel shall be served on the ~~[attorney,]~~ respondent, and service shall be deemed Notice of Entry of Decision for appeal purposes. Except as provided in ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 105(3)(b), a decision is final and effective 30 days from service, unless an appeal is taken within that time. To the extent not inconsistent with these rules, an appeal from a decision of a hearing panel shall be treated as would an appeal from a civil judgment of a district court and is governed by the Nevada Rules of Appellate ~~[Procedure.]~~ Procedure (NRAP).

(b) Review of public discipline. Except for disbarments by consent pursuant to ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 112 or a ~~[public]~~ reprimand agreed to in writing by the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent pursuant to ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 113, a decision recommending a ~~[public]~~ reprimand, ~~[suspension]~~ suspension, or disbarment shall be automatically reviewed by the supreme court. Although the supreme court's review of the conclusions of law and the recommended discipline is de novo, the court shall employ a deferential standard of review with respect to findings of fact. Review under this paragraph shall be commenced by bar counsel forwarding the record of the hearing panel proceedings to the court within 30 days of entry of the decision. Receipt of the record in such cases shall be acknowledged in writing by the clerk of the supreme court.

The ~~[attorney]~~ respondent and bar counsel shall have 30 days from the date the supreme court acknowledges receipt of the record within which to file an opening brief or otherwise advise the court of any intent to contest the

hearing panel's findings and recommendations. If an opening brief is filed, briefing shall thereafter proceed in accordance with NRAP 31(a). Extensions of time to file briefs are disfavored and will only be granted upon a showing of good cause. The parties shall not be required to prepare an appendix, but rather shall cite to the record of the disciplinary proceedings. If no opening brief is filed, the matter will be submitted for decision on the record without briefing or oral argument.

4. ~~[Rules]~~ Disciplinary rules of [procedure.] procedure; discovery of evidence. The chairs, after consulting with their respective disciplinary boards, may adopt disciplinary rules of procedure, subject to approval by the board of governors. The disciplinary rules of procedure shall require bar counsel to provide a summary of the evidence against the respondent, and the names of the witnesses bar counsel intends to call unless for impeachment and a brief statement of the facts to which each will testify. A respondent may inspect bar counsel's evidence up to 3 days prior to the hearing. Witnesses or evidence, other than for impeachment, which became known to bar counsel thereafter, and which bar counsel intends to use at the hearing, shall be promptly disclosed to the respondent.

Rule 105.5. ~~[Diversion]~~ Probation, diversion, and mentoring programs.

1. **Participation in ~~[diversion]~~ probation, diversion, or mentoring program.** As an alternative to or in conjunction with disciplinary sanctions, ~~[an attorney]~~ a respondent deemed eligible by the appropriate disciplinary board panel may participate in an approved ~~[diversion-and/or]~~ probation, diversion, or mentoring program, designed to assist with or improve management or behavior problems that resulted in, or are expected to result

in, minor misconduct. Participation in a ~~[diversion]~~ probation, diversion, or mentoring program may be offered by bar counsel or ordered by a panel only in cases where there is little likelihood that the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent will harm the public during the period of participation and where the conditions of the program can be reasonably supervised.

(a) Conditions. Conditions of a probation, diversion, or mentoring program may include participation in programs through the Nevada Lawyers Assistance Program, monitoring by a mentor, random substance testing, continuing legal education, ethics education, limitations on practice, restitution, fee arbitration, trust account audits, or any other program authorized by the court.

(b) Mentors. Mentors in ~~[diversion]~~ probation, diversion, or mentoring programs shall be approved or selected by bar counsel and shall serve on a voluntary basis. Only ~~[attorneys]~~ respondents in good standing with no pending disciplinary matters may serve as mentors. Any mentor who has no personal interest in the ~~[attorney's]~~ respondent's participation, and did not represent the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent in underlying proceedings, may be eligible to receive educational credits for services provided under this rule, after (i) the ~~[attorney's]~~ respondent's successful completion of such a program, and (ii) the mentor's application to the board of continuing legal education.

~~[(b)]~~ (c) Confidentiality. All services provided by a mentor under this rule and any related documents and/or communications shall remain confidential, as provided for in ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 121. A mentor shall observe the duties of confidentiality in Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct (RPC) 1.6. Any related information provided to a mentor, and subsequently provided to bar counsel, will be used solely to assess ~~[an attorney's]~~ a respondent's

compliance and progress, and may be provided to a hearing panel for that purpose, but will not be released to any other person(s). Further, such limited access to this information pursuant to a ~~[diversion]~~ probation, diversion, or mentoring program shall not constitute a breach of confidentiality under RPC 1.6, based upon the supervisory nature of a mentor's services and bar counsel's duty to monitor such matters.

(d) A panel or bar counsel may not offer a probation, diversion, or mentoring program if the respondent:

(1) Misappropriated client funds;

(2) Caused substantial injury;

(3) Participated in a probation, diversion, or mentoring program for similar misconduct within the last 5 years;

(4) Received an admonition or any public discipline within the last 3 years;

(5) Engaged in dishonesty, deceit, fraud, or misrepresentation; or

(6) Committed a "serious crime" as defined in SCR 111.

2. ~~[Diversion contract or mentoring]~~ Written agreement. The terms of probation, diversion, or mentoring shall be stated in a written ~~[diversion contract or mentoring]~~ agreement between bar counsel, the ~~[attorney, his or her]~~ respondent, respondent's counsel, if any, the mentor, if any, and any other person(s) a party thereto. The ~~[contract or]~~ agreement will specify the person(s) responsible for supervising the ~~[attorney's]~~ respondent's compliance with the terms and conditions of the ~~[contract or]~~ agreement. The supervision period shall not exceed 2 years; provided, however, that the disciplinary panel may renew the supervision period for an additional 2 years with the respondent's consent or after a breach hearing. The ~~[existence]~~ existence, but not the terms, of a diversion ~~[contract]~~ or

mentoring agreement under this rule is subject to the provisions of ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 121.

3. ~~[Rejection of]~~ Order for a [diversion] probation, diversion, or mentoring [program. An attorney] program by a screening panel. A screening panel may ~~[reject a panel's]~~ order ~~[for diversion]~~ a respondent to a probation, diversion, or mentoring program as an alternative to, or in conjunction with, disciplinary ~~[sanctions.~~

(a) ~~If an attorney rejects or fails to respond within 14 days]~~ sanctions, subject to [a panel's order directing participation in a diversion or mentoring program, the matter shall be presented to the next available screening panel with bar counsel's recommendation.

(b) ~~If an attorney rejects or fails to respond within 14 days of notice of a panel's order offering participation in a diversion or mentoring program as an alternative to disciplinary sanctions or proceedings, the alternative]~~ the respondent's consent. The screening panel shall [be imposed. Thereafter, bar] provide an alternative sanction if the respondent does not consent to participate in the proposed program. Bar counsel shall [promptly process the matter in accordance with Rule 105.

(c) ~~If an attorney fails to cooperate fully in the development and/or execution of a diversion contract or mentoring agreement, that failure shall be deemed a rejection in accordance with Rule 105.5(3).~~

4. ~~Acceptance of a diversion or mentoring program.]~~ immediately notify the respondent of the screening panel's order.

(a) Acceptance. Within 14 days of the ~~[attorney's]~~ respondent's receipt of a panel's order under this rule, the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent must provide bar counsel with a written notice of ~~[his or her]~~ their agreement to participate. Upon receipt of that notice, bar counsel shall promptly notify any

grievant(s) in writing that the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent has agreed to participate in a ~~[diversion]~~ probation, diversion, or mentoring program. When applicable, such notice shall further advise the grievant(s) of the confidentiality provisions of ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 121.

~~[5. Time for filing; extensions. The written]~~ (b) Rejection, failure to respond, or failure to cooperate. If a respondent rejects or fails to respond within 14 days to a screening panel's order directing participation in a probation, diversion, or mentoring program or fails to cooperate fully in the development or execution of a diversion contract or mentoring ~~[agreement]~~ agreement, then bar counsel shall promptly proceed with the alternative sanction provided in the screening panel's order.

~~(c) Time for filing; extensions.~~ Bar counsel and the respondent must [be fully executed] execute a written agreement within 30 days of acceptance by the ~~[attorney.]~~ respondent. This requirement shall only be extended by written agreement between bar counsel and the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent due to extraordinary circumstances. The party requesting the extension shall prepare the written agreement.

~~[6.]~~ 4. Breach of a diversion [contract] or mentoring agreement. Bar counsel shall monitor compliance and may establish protocols for monitoring. If bar counsel determines that ~~[an attorney]~~ a respondent has breached a ~~[contract or]~~ term of the agreement executed under this rule, and unless the ~~[contract or]~~ agreement dictates otherwise, bar counsel shall notify the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent of the alleged breach ~~[and]~~ and, after receipt of such notice, provide the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent with 14 days to submit a written response. Bar counsel may withdraw the notice of alleged breach based upon the written response and related communications.

(a) Hearing. If the notice is not withdrawn, bar counsel shall request the ~~[chair or vice chair of the appropriate disciplinary board to assign a]~~ hearing panel ~~[to hear]~~ that imposed the probation, diversion, or mentoring program reconvene to determine if the ~~[matter and issue an order.]~~ respondent has breached the terms of the agreement. Bar counsel shall notify the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent of such request by serving the notice of hearing on the ~~[attorney.]~~ respondent. The hearing panel shall convene within 30 days of the request. In proceedings brought under this rule, bar counsel shall have the burden by a preponderance of the evidence to establish any breach of the ~~[contract or]~~ agreement, and ~~[an attorney]~~ a respondent shall have the burden by a preponderance of the evidence to establish justification for any such breach. Where there is an alleged breach of ~~[a contract or]~~ an agreement executed pursuant to an order of the supreme court, bar counsel may move the court directly for any relief deemed appropriate.

(b) If a hearing panel finds a breach to be material and without justification, the panel shall terminate the ~~[contract or]~~ agreement and reactivate any underlying grievance(s) to be processed through any course deemed appropriate under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 105. If the ~~[contract]~~ respondent received a stayed sanction or ~~[agreement was effectuated as]~~ an alternative ~~[to disciplinary sanctions,]~~ sanction, then the panel shall terminate the ~~[contract or]~~ agreement and impose the ~~[applicable]~~ stayed sanction or alternative ~~[sanctions.]~~ sanction.

(c) If the hearing panel finds that no breach occurred, or that the breach was immaterial or with justification, the panel may modify the existing ~~[contract or]~~ agreement or direct the parties to proceed in accordance with it.

~~[7.]~~ 5. Costs. The ~~[attorney]~~ respondent shall pay any costs associated with participation in a diversion or mentoring program, including but not

limited to laboratory testing, professional accounting or evaluation, treatment, and the costs of any hearing under this rule. The **[attorney]** respondent shall not be assessed any fees or costs for a mentor's or bar counsel's services.

[8:] 6. Completion and expungement. After the term of ~~[a contract or]~~ an agreement for diversion or mentoring under this rule has concluded, bar counsel shall notify the **[attorney]** respondent of such completion and, when applicable, any underlying grievance(s) and related records shall be dismissed and processed in accordance with **[Rule]** SCR 121. After a grievance file has been dismissed under this rule, bar counsel shall respond to any related inquiries by stating that there is no record of such a matter, unless otherwise directed by the **[attorney.]** respondent. Likewise, the **[attorney]** respondent may respond to such an inquiry by stating that any allegations or complaints that may have been filed with bar counsel's office were dismissed. However, this rule does not supersede the provisions of **[Rule]** SCR 121 and does not apply to successful completion of a program ordered in conjunction with disciplinary sanctions or ordered in lieu of more severe disciplinary sanctions, unless otherwise noted in the ~~[contract or]~~ agreement. Probation is a disciplinary sanction and not subject to expungement.

Rule 106. Privilege and limitation.

1. **Privilege.** All participants in the discipline process, including grievants, bar counsel staff, members of disciplinary panels, diversion and mentoring participants, and witnesses, shall be absolutely immune from civil liability. No action may be predicated upon the filing of a disciplinary complaint or grievance or any action taken in connection with such a filing by any of the participants~~[-]~~, ~~[Except]~~except that any disclosures made pursuant to **[Rule]** SCR 121(16) shall not be immune under this rule.

2. **Limitation.** Disciplinary proceedings shall not be commenced against an attorney for alleged misconduct occurring more than 4 years prior to the receipt of the grievance or filing of the complaint by bar counsel. In the event of fraud or concealment, the ~~[4-year]~~ 4-year period begins on the date the fraud or concealment was discovered by the grievant, or on the date facts were known to bar counsel, which should have ~~[lead]~~ led bar counsel to discover the alleged misconduct. For purposes of Rule of Professional Conduct 7.2A (Advertising Filing Requirements), the 4-year period begins on the date the advertisement or communication was actually known to bar counsel.

Rule 106.5. ~~[Lawyer wellness programs:]~~ Lawyers Concerned for Lawyers program: privilege and limitation.

1. ~~[Purpose:]~~ Definition. The Lawyers Concerned for Lawyers program is a voluntary program created by the board of governors ~~[may establish lawyer wellness programs]~~ to assist lawyers who are suffering from a psychological disorder or ~~[impairment;]~~ impairment, or a drug, alcohol, gambling, or other addictive or compulsive ~~[disorder; or issues related to mental health]~~ disorder.

2. ~~[Definitions.]~~

~~(a) The Lawyers Concerned for Lawyers (LCL) program provides confidential peer-to-peer support. A lawyer's participation in LCL is voluntary.~~

~~(b) The Nevada Lawyer Assistance Program (NLAP) provides clinical assessment, treatment, or therapy services. Services provided through NLAP may be sought on a voluntary basis or may be ordered on condition of a diversion agreement under SCR 105.5 or may be court ordered.~~

3.] Privilege. Individuals who make a good faith report to ~~[LCL or NLAP;]~~ the Lawyers Concerned for Lawyers program, the board of governors and its members, bar counsel, and ~~[staff;]~~ staff, and the coordinator, agents, or employees of the ~~[LCL or NLAP program]~~ Lawyers Concerned for Lawyers program, shall be absolutely immune from civil liability for any activities related to the ~~[LCL or NLAP]~~ Lawyers Concerned for Lawyers program, including, but not limited to, making referrals to a counselor, therapist, medical, psychological, or behavior health care provider. No action may be predicated upon the filing of a good faith report with the ~~[LCL or NLAP]~~ Lawyers Concerned for Lawyers program or any action taken in connection with such a filing by the coordinator, agents, or employees of the ~~[LCL or NLAP]~~ Lawyers Concerned for Lawyers program.

[4.] 3. Limited use policy. All information obtained by the ~~[LCL program or as a result of voluntary services sought from NLAP,]~~ Lawyers Concerned for Lawyers program, including the initial report and any subsequent information provided to the program thereafter, shall be confidential and shall not be admissible in any state bar disciplinary, admission, ~~[administrative]~~ administrative, or other state bar proceeding.

~~[—(a)]~~ This rule is not meant to preclude the state bar from using evidence or information that is independently discovered from a source separate from the ~~[LCL or NLAP]~~ Lawyers Concerned for Lawyers program.

~~[(b) This rule is not meant to preclude the state bar from requiring participation in NLAP as part of a diversion program under SCR 105.5, in which case, the attorney is subject to the rules under SCR 105.5.]~~

Rule 107. Refusal of grievant or complainant to proceed, compromise, etc. Neither unwillingness nor neglect of a grievant or complainant to sign a grievance or complaint or to prosecute a charge, nor settlement or compromise between the grievant or complainant and the ~~[attorney,]~~ respondent, nor restitution by the ~~[attorney,]~~ respondent, shall require abatement of the processing of any grievance or complaint. Such factors may be considered in determining whether to abate.

Rule 108. Matters involving related pending civil or criminal litigation. Before or after a grievance file has been opened, processing of a grievance or complaint shall not be deferred or abated because of substantial similarity to the material allegations of pending criminal or civil litigation, unless authorized, for good cause, by a three-member screening panel appointed pursuant to ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 105(1).

Rule 109. Service.

1. **Complaint.** Service of a complaint under these rules shall be made by personal service by any person authorized in the manner prescribed by ~~[Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure]~~ NRCP 4(c), or by registered or certified mail at the current address shown in the state bar's records or other last known address.

2. **Other papers.** Service of other papers or notices required by these rules shall be made in accordance with ~~[Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure]~~ NRCP 5, unless otherwise provided by these rules.

Rule 110. Subpoena power, production of documents, witnesses, and pretrial proceedings.

1. **Issuance of subpoenas by hearing panels and bar counsel.** Bar counsel and a member of a hearing panel who is also a state bar member, in matters under investigation by either, may administer oaths and affirmations and issue and compel by subpoena the attendance of witnesses and the production of pertinent books, papers, and documents. The **[attorney] respondent** may also compel by subpoena the attendance of witnesses and the production of pertinent books, papers, and other documents before a hearing panel. Subpoena and witness fees and mileage shall be the same as in a district court.

2. **Confidentiality stated on subpoena.** Subject to the provisions of **[Rule] SCR** 121, subpoenas shall clearly indicate on their face that they are issued in connection with a confidential investigation under these rules and that it is regarded as contempt of the supreme court or grounds for discipline under these rules for a person subpoenaed to in any way breach the confidentiality of the investigation. It shall not be regarded as a breach of confidentiality for a person subpoenaed to consult with counsel or to answer questions asked by bar counsel or the **[attorney] respondent** to determine the facts known by the witness.

3. **Attachment of person for failure to obey subpoena or produce documents.** Whenever any person subpoenaed to appear and give testimony or to produce books, papers, or other documents as required by subpoena, or requested to provide documents pursuant to **[Rule] SCR** 78.5(1)(b), refuses to appear or testify before a hearing panel, or to answer any pertinent or proper questions, or to provide the requested documents, that person shall be deemed in contempt of the disciplinary board, and the chair of the disciplinary board shall report the fact to a district judge of the county in which the hearing is being held or the investigation conducted. The district court shall promptly

issue an attachment in the form usual in the court, directed to the sheriff of the county, commanding the sheriff to attach such person and bring such person forthwith before the court. On the return of the attachment, and the production of the person attached, the district court shall have jurisdiction of the matter; and the person charged may purge ~~[himself or herself]~~ themselves of the contempt in the same way, and the same proceedings shall be had, and the same penalties may be imposed, and the same punishment inflicted as in the case of a witness subpoenaed to appear and give evidence on the trial of a civil cause before a district court of the State of Nevada.

4. Contest of subpoena. A contest of a subpoena shall be heard and determined by the chair of the appropriate disciplinary board.

5. Restriction on discovery. Discovery by the ~~[attorney,]~~ respondent, other than under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 105(2)(d), is not permitted prior to hearing, except by the order of the chair for good cause upon motion under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 103(5) or ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 103(6).

6. Prehearing conference. At the discretion of the chair, a prehearing conference may be ordered for the purpose of obtaining admissions or otherwise narrowing the issues presented by the pleadings. The conference may be held before the chair or the chair's designee.

7. Deposition in lieu of appearance. With the approval of the chair, testimony may be taken by deposition or by commission if the witness is not subject to subpoena or is unable to attend or testify at the hearing because of age, illness, or other infirmity.

8. Confidentiality of deposition. Depositions are subject to the protective requirements and confidentiality provided in ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 121.

9. Subpoena pursuant to law of another jurisdiction. Bar counsel, in the aid of ~~[lawyer]~~ attorney discipline or disability proceedings in another

jurisdiction, may issue a subpoena as provided in this ~~[Rule 110.]~~ rule. The request for the subpoena must be duly approved under the laws of the requesting jurisdiction and must be made by either the disciplinary authority of the requesting jurisdiction or a respondent in a disciplinary or disability proceeding in the requesting jurisdiction. The subpoena may compel the attendance of witnesses and production of documents in Nevada where the witness resides or is employed or elsewhere as agreed by the witness. Service, enforcement, and challenges to this subpoena shall be in accordance with this rule.

Rule 111. Attorneys convicted of crimes.

1. **“Conviction” defined.** For purposes of this rule, in addition to a final judgment of conviction, a “conviction” shall include a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, a plea under *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970), or a guilty verdict following either a bench or a jury trial, regardless of whether a sentence is suspended or deferred or whether a final judgment of conviction has been entered, and regardless of any pending appeals.

2. **Duty to inform bar counsel.** Upon being convicted of a crime by a court of competent jurisdiction, other than a misdemeanor traffic violation not involving the use of alcohol or a controlled substance, an attorney subject to these rules shall inform bar counsel within 30 days.

3. **Court clerks to transmit proof of conviction.** The clerk of any court in this state in which an attorney is convicted of a crime, other than a misdemeanor traffic violation not involving the use of alcohol or a controlled substance, shall transmit a certified copy of proof of the conviction to the supreme court and bar counsel within 10 days after its entry.

4. **Bar counsel's responsibility.** Upon being advised that an attorney subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the supreme court has been convicted of a crime, other than a misdemeanor traffic violation or a first-time conviction for a misdemeanor traffic violation involving alcohol or controlled substances, bar counsel shall obtain a certified copy of proof of the conviction and shall file a petition with the supreme court, attaching the certified copy. Upon being advised that an attorney subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the supreme court has been convicted of a misdemeanor involving the use of alcohol or a controlled substance and the offense is not the attorney's first such offense, bar counsel shall investigate and present the matter to the appropriate panel of the disciplinary board prior to the filing of the petition. The petition shall be accompanied by the panel's recommendation regarding the appropriate disciplinary action, if any, to be imposed under these or any other rules of the supreme court that pertain to the conduct of attorneys.

5. **Certified document conclusive.** A certified copy of proof of a conviction is conclusive evidence of the commission of the crime stated in it in any disciplinary proceeding instituted against an attorney based on the conviction.

6. **Definition of "serious crime."** The term "serious crime" means (1) a felony and (2) any crime less than a felony that adversely reflects on the attorney's fitness to practice law, or involves improper conduct as an attorney, interference with the administration of justice, false swearing, misrepresentation, fraud, willful failure to file an income tax return, deceit, bribery, extortion, misappropriation, theft, or an attempt or a conspiracy or solicitation of another to commit a "serious crime."

7. **Suspension on certification.** Upon the filing with the supreme court of a petition with a certified copy of proof of the conviction, demonstrating

that an attorney has been convicted of a serious crime, the court shall enter an order suspending the attorney, regardless of the pendency of an appeal, pending final disposition of a disciplinary proceeding, which shall be commenced by the appropriate disciplinary board upon referral by the supreme court. For good cause, the court may set aside its order suspending the attorney from the practice of law.

8. Referral to disciplinary board. Upon receipt of a petition filed under subsection 4 of this rule, demonstrating that an attorney has been convicted of a serious crime, the supreme court shall, in addition to suspending the attorney in accordance with the provisions of subsection 7 of this rule, refer the matter to the appropriate disciplinary board for the institution of a hearing before a hearing panel in which the sole issue to be determined shall be the extent of the discipline to be imposed. The panel may, for good cause, postpone the proceeding until all appeals from the conviction have been concluded.

9. Conviction for other than a serious crime. Upon receipt of a petition demonstrating that an attorney has been convicted of a crime which is not a serious crime, the supreme court may refer the matter to the appropriate disciplinary board for any action it may deem warranted under these or any other rules of the supreme court that pertain to the conduct of attorneys, provided, however, that the supreme court may decline to refer a conviction for a minor offense to the board. If the conviction adversely reflects on the attorney's fitness to practice law, the supreme court may issue an order to show cause, requiring the attorney to demonstrate why an immediate temporary suspension should not be imposed.

10. Reinstatement. An attorney suspended under the provisions of subsection 7 or 9 of this rule may be reinstated by filing a certificate with the supreme court demonstrating that the underlying conviction has been

reversed, but reinstatement will not terminate any formal proceeding pending against the attorney, the disposition of which shall be determined by the hearing panel on the basis of the available evidence.

11. **Conviction of attorney who is prohibited from practicing.** If an attorney convicted of a crime is at that time prohibited from practicing due to a disciplinary suspension or transfer to disability inactive status under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 117, then the petition filed under subsection 7 or 9 of this rule shall state that the attorney is prohibited from practicing and under what provision. If the attorney has been suspended as discipline, then the petition shall indicate the suspension's length and whether the attorney must file a reinstatement petition under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 116 to regain active status. The supreme court shall then enter an appropriate order directing how the conviction shall be addressed.

Rule 113. Discipline by consent.

1. **Conditional ~~[plea. An attorney]~~ admission.** A respondent against whom bar counsel has filed a ~~[grievance or]~~ complaint ~~[has been made]~~ may tender to bar counsel a conditional ~~[guilty plea]~~ admission to the ~~[charge(s)]~~ complaint or to a particular count therein in exchange for a stated form of discipline. ~~[The]~~ If accepted by bar counsel, the tendered ~~[plea]~~ admission shall be ~~[filed with bar counsel's office and]~~ approved, ~~[modified]~~ modified, or rejected by a hearing panel. The tendered ~~[plea]~~ admission is subject to final approval or rejection by the supreme court if the stated form of discipline includes disbarment or suspension. If the panel or the supreme court rejects the stated form of discipline, then the admission shall be withdrawn and cannot be used against the respondent in any subsequent proceedings.

2. **Continuance and abatement of proceedings.** A continuance in a proceeding on the basis of a tendered **[plea]** admission shall be granted only with the concurrence of bar counsel. Approval of a tendered **[plea]** admission by a panel, and, if required, by the **[court]** court, shall abate the proceedings, and the panel's decision shall be predicated on the charge(s) made against the **[attorney and the tendered plea.]** respondent and the tendered admission. If a formal hearing panel or the supreme court rejects the stated form of discipline, then the admission shall be withdrawn and the Board shall appoint a new panel, which shall proceed to formal hearing pursuant to SCR 105(2)(d).

3. **Review by court.** If the stated form of discipline includes disbarment or suspension, bar counsel shall forward the record of the proceedings before it to the supreme court within 30 days of entry of the decision. The record filed with the supreme court shall indicate on its title page that the matter concerns a proceeding under this rule. The matter shall be submitted for review on the record without briefing or oral argument unless otherwise ordered by the court.

4. **[Public] Consent to reprimand or admonition.** If the stated form of discipline includes neither a suspension nor disbarment, the matter shall not be submitted to the supreme court for approval. The state bar shall issue the **[public]** reprimand and publish the **[public]** reprimand in accordance with **[Rule]** SCR 121.1. If the stated form of discipline is an admonition, it will be published in accordance with SCR 102(1)(f).

Rule 114. Reciprocal **[discipline.] discipline and disability inactive status.**

1. **Duty to inform of discipline elsewhere.** Upon the imposition of disciplinary sanctions or transfer to disability inactive status in another

jurisdiction, an attorney subject to these rules shall inform bar counsel of the action within 30 days, regardless of any pending appeals.

2. **Duties of bar counsel.** Upon being informed that an attorney subject to these rules has been disciplined or transferred to disability inactive status in another jurisdiction, bar counsel shall obtain a certified copy of the ~~[disciplinary order,]~~ order imposing discipline or transferring the attorney to disability or inactive status, or other document so demonstrating. ~~[In the event that]~~ If bar counsel receives information, from a source other than the attorney, indicating that an attorney subject to these rules may have been disciplined or transferred to disability inactive status in another jurisdiction, bar counsel shall investigate the matter. If the investigation reveals that an attorney subject to these rules was in fact disciplined or transferred to disability inactive status in another jurisdiction, bar counsel shall obtain a certified copy of the ~~[disciplinary]~~ order, or other document so ~~[demonstrating]~~ demonstrating, and file a petition for reciprocal discipline or disability inactive status as described in subsection 3 of this rule.

3. **Procedure.** Bar counsel shall file a petition with the supreme court, ~~[and]~~ shall serve a copy of the petition on the attorney at the address on file with the state bar under ~~[Rule 79]~~ SCR 79, and provide proof of service to the supreme court. The petition must contain a brief statement of the facts known to bar counsel, any Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct counterparts to the rules violated, and an attachment of the certified copy of the other jurisdiction's ~~[disciplinary]~~ order, or other document so demonstrating. The attorney shall have 15 days from the date of service to file a response, if any, with the supreme court, including any claim that the identical discipline is not warranted, predicated on the grounds set forth in subsection 4 of this rule.

4. Identical discipline to be imposed; exceptions. After the time for the attorney to respond has expired, the supreme court shall impose the identical discipline unless the attorney demonstrates, or the supreme court finds, that on the face of the record upon which the discipline is predicated it clearly appears:

(a) That the procedure in the other jurisdiction was so lacking in notice or opportunity to be heard as to constitute a deprivation of due process; ~~[or]~~

(b) That there was such an infirmity of proof establishing the misconduct as to give rise to the clear conviction that the court could not, consistent with its duty, accept the decision of the other jurisdiction as fairly reached; ~~[or]~~

(c) That the misconduct established warrants substantially different discipline in this state; or

(d) That the misconduct established does not constitute misconduct under any Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct.

If the court determines that any of the preceding factors exist, it shall enter an appropriate order.

5. Discipline elsewhere res judicata. In all other respects, a final adjudication in another jurisdiction that an attorney has engaged in misconduct conclusively establishes the misconduct for the purposes of a disciplinary proceeding in this state.

Rule 115. Notice of change in license status; winding down of practice.

1. Who must comply. An attorney barred from the active practice of law, whether by disbarment, suspension, including suspension under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 93 or ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 212, transfer to disability inactive status, or resignation with discipline pending must comply with this rule. An attorney who resigns

without discipline pending under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 93(5)(a) and who has any Nevada clients must also comply with this rule solely with respect to the attorney's Nevada clients. If an attorney who resigns under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 93(5)(a) has no Nevada clients, then the attorney shall file the affidavit described in ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 115(4).

2. Duty to notify clients not involved in legal proceedings. An attorney who is required to comply with this rule shall immediately notify, by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, all clients being represented in pending matters, other than litigation or administrative proceedings, of ~~[his or her]~~ their disbarment, suspension, transfer to disability inactive status, or resignation and consequent inability to act as an attorney. The attorney shall further advise the clients to seek other legal advice of their own choice, and shall inform them of any relevant limitation period and deadlines.

3. Duty to notify clients and forums involved in proceedings. An attorney barred from the active practice of law, whether by disbarment, suspension, including suspension under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 93 or ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 212, transfer to disability inactive status, or resignation, shall immediately notify, by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, (1) each of the attorney's clients who is involved in pending litigation, administrative proceedings, arbitration, mediation or other similar proceedings, (2) the attorney(s) for each adverse party in such matters, and (3) the court, agency, arbitrator, ~~[mediator]~~ mediator, or other presider over such proceeding of ~~[his or her]~~ the attorney's disbarment, suspension, transfer to disability inactive status, or resignation and consequent inability to act as an attorney. The notice to the client shall state the desirability of prompt substitution of another attorney of the client's own choice and shall list any upcoming

appearances and deadlines. The notice given to the attorney for an adverse party shall provide the last known address of the client.

In the event the client does not obtain substitute counsel within 30 days of the attorney's notice to the client, it shall be the responsibility of the attorney to move in the court, **[agency]** agency, or other forum in which the proceeding is pending for leave to withdraw, if leave is required.

4. Duty to inform supreme court of compliance with order. Within 10 days after the entry of the disbarment, suspension, transfer to disability inactive status, or resignation order, the attorney shall file an affidavit of compliance with the supreme court, bar counsel, and, if the suspension was under **[Rule]** SCR 212, with the board of continuing legal education. The affidavit must show:

(a) That the attorney has fully complied with the provisions of the order and with these rules;

(b) All other state, federal, and administrative jurisdictions to which the attorney is admitted or specially admitted to practice;

(c) That the attorney has served a copy of **[his or her]** their affidavit on bar counsel;

(d) The address and telephone number of the attorney and that of a contact person, if any, designated for client files; and

(e) The status of any client or third-party funds being held.

5. Maintenance of records. An attorney required to comply with this rule shall maintain records of **[his or her]** their proof of compliance with these rules and with the disbarment, suspension, transfer to disability inactive status, or resignation order for the purposes of subsequent proceedings. Proof of such compliance shall be a condition precedent to **[reinstatement or readmission.]** reinstatement.

6. **Return of client property.** The attorney shall deliver to all clients being represented in pending matters any papers or other property to which they are entitled and shall notify them and any counsel representing them of a suitable time and place where the papers and other property may be obtained, calling attention to any urgency for obtaining the papers or other property.

7. **Failure to comply.** If an attorney subject to this rule fails to comply with any provision of this rule or the court's order of disbarment, suspension, transfer to disability inactive status, or resignation, the court may enter an order to accomplish the purpose of this rule.

[7-] 8. **Effective date.** Orders imposing suspension or disbarment or approving resignation shall be effective immediately. After entry of the order, the attorney shall not accept any new retainer or act as attorney for another in any new case or legal matter of any nature. However, for 15 days from the entry date of the order, the attorney may wind up and complete, on behalf of any client, all matters pending on the entry date.

Rule 116. Reinstatement.

1. ~~[Order of supreme court required. An attorney suspended as discipline for more than 6 months may not resume practice unless reinstated by order of the supreme court.]~~

2. ~~Procedure for reinstatement. Petitions for reinstatement by a suspended attorney shall be filed with bar counsel's office, which]~~
An attorney who has been suspended for 6 months or less pursuant to disciplinary proceedings shall be reinstated at the end of the period of suspension by filing with bar counsel an affidavit stating that they have fully

complied with the requirements of the suspension order and has paid any required fees and costs.

2. An attorney suspended for more than 6 months shall be reinstated only upon order of the court. No attorney may petition for reinstatement until the period of suspension has expired. An attorney shall receive credit for the time they were on interim suspension.

3. **Petition.** An attorney must submit a petition for reinstatement under oath or affirmation under penalty of perjury and shall specify with particularity how the attorney meets each of the criteria specified in subsection 5 or, if not, why there is good and sufficient reason for reinstatement.

4. **Service of petition.** The attorney shall file a copy of the petition with bar counsel, and bar counsel shall serve a copy of the petition upon each complainant in the disciplinary proceeding that led to the suspension or disbarment. Bar counsel shall promptly refer the petition to the chair of the appropriate disciplinary board. The chair or vice chair shall promptly refer the petition to a hearing panel, which shall, within 60 days after referral, conduct a hearing.

5. **Criteria for reinstatement.** An attorney may be reinstated ~~[or readmitted]~~ only if the attorney demonstrates by clear and convincing evidence the following criteria, or if not, presents good and sufficient reason ~~[why]~~ the attorney should nevertheless be ~~[reinstated or readmitted:]~~ reinstated:

(a) Full compliance with the terms and conditions of all prior disciplinary orders;

(b) The attorney has neither engaged in nor attempted to engage in the unauthorized practice of law during the period of suspension;

(c) Any physical or mental disability or infirmity existing at the time of suspension has been removed; if alcohol or other drug abuse was a causative factor in the attorney's misconduct, the attorney has pursued appropriate treatment, has abstained from the use of alcohol or other drugs for a stated period of time, generally not less than ~~[one]~~ 1 year, and is likely to continue to abstain from alcohol or other drugs;

(d) The attorney recognizes the wrongfulness and seriousness of the misconduct resulting in the suspension;

(e) The attorney has not engaged in any other professional misconduct since suspension;

(f) Notwithstanding the conduct for which the attorney was disciplined, the attorney has the requisite honesty and integrity to practice law; and

(g) The attorney has kept informed about recent developments in the law and is competent to practice.

6. Hearing; decision as to reinstatement. The hearing panel shall file its findings and recommendations within 30 days after the hearing concludes. Within 60 days after the hearing concludes, bar counsel shall file the record of the proceedings, together with the panel's findings and recommendation, with the supreme court. Receipt of the record shall be acknowledged in writing by the supreme court clerk.

The attorney or bar counsel shall have 30 days from the date the supreme court acknowledges receipt of the record within which to file an opening brief or otherwise advise the court if ~~[he or she intends]~~ they intend to contest the hearing panel's findings and recommendations. If an opening brief is filed, briefing shall thereafter proceed in accordance with NRAP 31(a). Extensions of time to file briefs are disfavored and will only be granted upon a showing of good cause. The parties shall not be required to prepare an appendix, but

~~[rather]~~ shall cite to the record of the reinstatement proceedings. If no opening brief is filed, the matter will be submitted for decision on the record without briefing or oral argument.

If the court finds that the attorney has complied with each of the criteria of subsection 5 or has presented good and sufficient reason for failure to comply, the court shall reinstate the attorney.

~~[3.]~~ **7. Bar counsel to appear.** In proceedings for reinstatement, bar counsel shall represent the state bar and submit any evidence and produce any witnesses relevant to the petition. Prior to the hearing, bar counsel may make a lawful request for information consistent with the requirements for admission under ~~[S.C.R.]~~ SCR 51.

~~[4.]~~ **8. Tender of costs in advance.** Petitions for reinstatement under this rule shall be accompanied by an advance cost deposit of ~~[\$1,000]~~ \$2,500 to cover anticipated costs of the reinstatement proceeding.

~~[5.]~~ **9. Decision on reinstatement; conditions.** If the attorney does not meet the burden of proof to justify reinstatement, the petition shall be dismissed by the hearing panel. If the attorney meets the burden of proof, the hearing panel's recommendation for reinstatement shall be entered. Reinstatement shall be conditioned upon the attorney's payment of the costs of the proceeding, restitution to parties injured by the petitioner's misconduct, including the Clients' Security Fund, any further conditions deemed appropriate by the panel, and such proof of competency as may be required by the supreme court, which proof may include certification by the bar examiners of the successful completion of an examination for admission to practice subsequent to the date of suspension or disbarment. If an attorney has been continuously suspended for 5 years or more at the time a petition for reinstatement is filed, irrespective of the term of suspension initially imposed,

successful completion of the examination for admission to practice shall be a mandatory condition of reinstatement.

[6-] 10. Successive petitions. A petition for reinstatement under this rule shall not be filed within 1 year following an adverse judgment on a petition for reinstatement filed by the same attorney, unless otherwise ordered by the court.

E. DISABILITY

Rule 117. Proceedings when an attorney is declared to be incompetent or is alleged to be incapacitated.

1. Judicial declaration of incompetency or commitment. Upon proof that an attorney has been judicially declared incompetent or involuntarily committed on the grounds of incompetency or disability, the supreme court shall enter an order transferring the attorney to disability inactive status until the further order of the court. A copy of the order shall be served on the attorney, his guardian, **[and/or]** or the director of the institution to which he has been committed in such manner as the court may direct.

2. Petition to determine competency; notice. Whenever a disciplinary board or a hearing panel believes that an attorney is incapable of continuing the practice of law because of mental infirmity, illness, or addiction, it may file a petition with the supreme court seeking a determination of the attorney's competency. Such a petition may also be filed by joint stipulation of the parties. A petition to determine an attorney's competency should be filed separately from any discipline matter that may be pending and should be marked confidential in accordance with **[Rule]** SCR 121. Upon the filing of such a petition, the court may take or direct such action as it deems necessary

to determine whether the attorney is incapacitated, including referral of the matter to the appropriate disciplinary board for hearing and recommendation by a hearing panel or the examination of the attorney by qualified medical experts. If, upon due consideration, the court concludes that the attorney is incapacitated for the purpose of practicing law, it shall enter an order transferring him or her to disability inactive status. Any pending disciplinary proceeding or investigation against the attorney shall be suspended.

The court shall provide for notice to the attorney as it deems necessary and may appoint counsel to represent the attorney if he or she is without adequate representation.

3. Transfer to disability inactive status prior to determination of competency. If, during the course of a disciplinary proceeding or investigation, the attorney contends in a petition or joint petition filed with the supreme court that ~~[he or she is]~~ they are suffering from a disability due to mental or physical infirmity, illness, or addiction, which makes it impossible for the attorney to adequately defend the disciplinary proceeding, the supreme court shall enter an order transferring the attorney to disability inactive status until a determination is made of the attorney's capacity to continue to practice law in a proceeding instituted in accordance with the provisions of subsection 2 above.

If the court determines that the attorney is not incapacitated from practicing law, it shall take such action as it deems necessary, including a direction for the resumption of the disciplinary proceeding against the attorney.

4. Resumption of practice by disabled attorney. An attorney transferred to disability inactive status under the provisions of this rule may not resume active status until reinstated by order of the supreme court. An

attorney transferred to disability inactive status under the provisions of this rule shall be entitled to petition for reinstatement to active status ~~[once a year, or at such shorter intervals as the court may direct in the order transferring the attorney to disability inactive status.]~~ no sooner than 1 year following the transfer to disability inactive status or after an unsuccessful petition for reinstatement filed by the same attorney, unless otherwise ordered by the court. The petition shall be filed with bar counsel's office and shall be set for hearing before a hearing panel, which shall consider whether the attorney has demonstrated by clear and convincing evidence that the attorney's disability has been removed and that ~~[he or she is]~~ they are fit to resume the practice of law. The panel may direct that the attorney establish competence and learning in law, including certification by the bar examiners that the attorney successfully completed an examination for admission to practice ~~[subsequent to]~~ after being transferred to disability inactive status. Reinstatement shall be conditioned upon the attorney's repayment to the Clients' Security Fund of clients who were reimbursed on the attorney's behalf. The panel shall ~~[render]~~ file findings of fact, conclusions of law, and a ~~[written decision]~~ recommendation on reinstatement within 30 days of the hearing's conclusion, which shall be filed with bar counsel's office and served pursuant to ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 109(1).

Bar counsel shall forward the record of the hearing panel proceeding to the supreme court within 30 days of the decision's entry. Receipt of the record shall be acknowledged in writing by the supreme court clerk. The parties shall have 30 days from the date the supreme court acknowledges receipt of the record within which to file any objection to the panel's recommendation. If none is filed, then the matter shall be submitted for decision. If the supreme court concludes that the attorney's disability has been removed and that the attorney

is fit to practice law, then the supreme court may reinstate the attorney to active status, with any conditions that may be appropriate to protect the attorney's clients or the public. If any disciplinary proceeding against the attorney was suspended by the attorney's transfer to disability inactive status, then the supreme court may direct the state bar to resume the disciplinary proceeding. If the supreme court is not satisfied that the attorney's disability has been removed, then it may take such action as it deems appropriate, including denying the petition.

When an attorney who has been transferred to disability inactive status is later judicially declared to be competent, the attorney may file a petition for reinstatement with the supreme court, attaching a copy of the judicial declaration of competency. The petition shall state whether any disciplinary proceedings were pending against the attorney at the time ~~[he or she was]~~ they were transferred to disability inactive status. Upon the filing of such a petition, the supreme court may dispense with further evidence that the attorney's disability has been removed and may direct the attorney's reinstatement to active status upon such terms as are deemed ~~[appropriate,]~~ appropriate or may direct the state bar to resume any disciplinary proceedings that were suspended by the attorney's transfer to disability inactive status.

5. **Burden of proof.** In a proceeding for transfer to disability inactive status or for reinstatement under this rule, the burden of proof rests with the petitioner.

6. **Waiver of privilege and disclosure by filing petition for reinstatement.** The filing of a petition for reinstatement under this rule waives any doctor-patient privilege with respect to any treatment, diagnosis, or prognosis of the attorney during disability. The attorney shall be required to disclose the name of every treatment provider by whom or in which the

attorney has been examined or treated since being transferred to disability inactive status, and the attorney shall furnish every treatment provider the attorney's written consent to divulge such information and records as requested by the supreme court, its appointed medical experts, the office of bar counsel, or any hearing panel.

7. **Notice.** An attorney who is transferred to inactive status must comply with **[Rule]** SCR 115, if ~~[he or she is]~~ they are able to do so. If the attorney's disability precludes compliance with **[Rule]** SCR 115, or if the attorney fails to comply, then bar counsel shall proceed under **[Rule]** SCR 118. Bar counsel shall also comply with **[Rule]** SCR 121.1.

Rule 118. Appointment of counsel to protect client's interest.

1. **Judicial action; compensation; right of reimbursement.** Whenever an attorney has been transferred to disability inactive status, abandoned ~~[his or her]~~ their practice, resigned, died, or been suspended or disbarred, and there is evidence that the attorney has not complied with **[Rule]** SCR 115, and a responsible person capable of conducting the attorney's affairs cannot be found, the chief or presiding judge, or designee in the judicial district(s) in which the attorney maintained ~~[his or her]~~ their practice, upon application by bar counsel, the state bar may appoint a disinterested attorney(s) to examine and inventory the attorney's files and to take such action as is necessary to protect the interests of the attorney and the attorney's clients. An appointed attorney may petition the board of governors for reasonable compensation. The board of governors may seek reimbursement from the attorney, out of the attorney's property, or from the attorney's clients whose interests are served under this rule.

2. **Confidentiality.** An attorney appointed under this rule shall not disclose any information contained in the files examined or inventoried without the consent of the client for whom the file was maintained, except as necessary to carry out the order of the court which appointed the attorney.

3. **Immunity.** Any attorney appointed pursuant to this rule shall be absolutely immune from civil liability for any act or omission in connection with, or in the course of, duties performed pursuant to the appointment.

F. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Rule 119. Additional rules of procedure.

1. **Record.** The record of a hearing shall be made available to the ~~[attorney]~~ respondent at the ~~[attorney's]~~ respondent's expense on request made to bar counsel.

2. **Failure to answer.** Failure to answer a filed complaint shall constitute an admission of the factual allegations.

3. **Failure to appear.** If the respondent fails to appear when specifically so ordered by a disciplinary panel, then the respondent shall be deemed to have admitted the factual allegations that were to be the subject of such appearance or conceded to any motion or recommendations to be considered at such appearance. The disciplinary panel shall not, absent good cause, continue or delay proceedings due to the respondent's failure to appear.

4. **Time limits not jurisdictional.** Except as is otherwise provided in these rules, time is directory and not jurisdictional. Time limitations are administrative, not jurisdictional. Failure to observe directory time intervals may result in contempt of the appropriate disciplinary board or hearing panel

having ~~[jurisdiction,]~~ ~~jurisdiction~~ but will not justify abatement of any disciplinary investigation or proceeding.

~~[3.]~~ 5. **Other rules of procedure.** Except as otherwise provided in these ~~[rules,]~~ rules and the rules of the disciplinary procedure established pursuant to SCR 105(4), the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure and the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure apply in disciplinary cases.

Rule 120. Costs; bar counsel conflict or disqualification.

1. An attorney subjected to discipline or seeking reinstatement under these rules shall be assessed the costs, in full or in part, of the proceeding, including, but not limited to, reporter's fees, investigation fees, witness expenses, service costs, publication costs, and any other fees or costs deemed reasonable by the panel and allocable to the proceeding.

2. If, for any reason, bar counsel is disqualified or has a conflict of interest, the board of governors shall appoint an attorney, ad hoc, to act in the place of bar counsel.

3. In addition to any costs assessed as provided for herein, an attorney subjected to discipline shall be assessed administrative costs allocable to the proceeding, but in any case, shall not be less than the following amounts:

<u>Admonition:</u>	<u>\$ 750</u>
Reprimand:	\$1,500
Suspension:	\$2,500
Disbarment:	\$3,000

4. A final assessment for ~~[costs and fees]~~ costs, fees, or restitution shall have the force and effect of a civil judgment against the ~~[disciplined]~~

respondent attorney and shall be subject to all legally available post-judgment enforcement remedies and procedure.

5. In addition, in any matter where any attorney is required to apply for reinstatement, administrative costs shall be assessed in any amount not less than \$2,500, and the attorney shall also be required to pay all costs previously assessed but not yet paid prior to the processing of the application for reinstatement.

Rule 121. Confidentiality.

1. **Generally.** All proceedings involving allegations of misconduct by an attorney shall be kept confidential until the filing of a formal complaint. All participants in a proceeding, including anyone connected with it, shall ~~[conduct themselves so as to]~~ maintain the confidentiality of the proceeding until a formal complaint is filed.

2. **When no formal complaint filed.** In the event no formal complaint is filed, the disciplinary proceeding shall become public upon its conclusion, whether by dismissal or ~~[otherwise.]~~ unless otherwise specified herein.

3. **Reciprocal discipline.** Proceedings under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 114, concerning the imposition of reciprocal discipline, shall be public.

4. **Temporary restraining order regarding funds under [Rule]** SCR 102(3). ~~[In the event that]~~ If the state bar files a petition with a district court for a temporary restraining order regarding funds before a formal complaint is filed in the underlying disciplinary proceeding against an attorney, then the matter shall be treated as confidential. If the court grants the petition, then the matter shall become public upon entry of the order granting the petition. If the court denies the petition, then the matter shall

remain confidential until a formal complaint is filed or the matter is otherwise concluded.

5. **Temporary suspension under [Rule] SCR 102(4).** ~~[In the event that]~~ If the state bar files a petition with the supreme court for the temporary suspension of an attorney before a formal complaint is filed in the underlying disciplinary proceeding, then the matter shall be treated as confidential. If the court grants the petition, then the matter shall become public upon entry of the order granting the petition. If the court denies the petition, then the matter shall remain confidential until a formal complaint is filed or the matter is otherwise concluded.

6. **Temporary suspension under [Rule] SCR 111.** Proceedings under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 111, concerning attorneys convicted of crimes, shall be public.

7. **Transfers to disability inactive status.** The supreme court's order transferring an attorney to disability inactive status shall be public. All other proceedings in such matters shall remain ~~[confidential,]~~ confidential unless the attorney waives confidentiality.

8. **Transfers from disability inactive status.** Unless the attorney waives confidentiality, petitions for reinstatement from disability inactive status shall be confidential. If a petition is granted, then the matter will become public upon entry of the order of reinstatement.

9. **Reinstatement.** Reinstatement proceedings under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 116 shall be public.

10. **Disbarment by consent.** Disbarments by consent under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 112 shall be public.

11. **What becomes public.** Once a matter has become public pursuant to this rule, all records of the ~~[lawyer]~~ attorney discipline agency shall become

public except bar counsel's work ~~[product and]~~ product, the panel's ~~[deliberations.]~~ deliberations, and all documents related to any diversion or mentoring agreements governed by SCR 105.5.

12. **Proceedings before the supreme court.** Unless these rules specifically provide that a matter in the supreme court is confidential, all filed documents and arguments in ~~[lawyer]~~ attorney discipline proceedings in the supreme court shall be public, unless for good cause shown, the supreme court enters an order sealing all or part of the record in the court.

13. **Cooperation with certain investigations.** ~~[This rule shall not deny access to]~~ Bar counsel may share relevant nonpublic information ~~[to authorized]~~ with federal or state agencies investigating the ~~[qualifications of judicial candidates, or to other jurisdictions investigating qualifications for admission to practice,]~~ same or ~~[to law enforcement agencies investigating qualifications for government employment.]~~ similar misconduct.

14. **Expungement.** On December 31 of each year, the state bar shall expunge all records or other evidence of grievances that have been terminated by dismissal for more than ~~[three]~~ 3 years, except that upon application by the state bar, notice to the attorney and a showing of good cause, the supreme court may permit the state bar to retain such records for an additional period of time, not to exceed ~~[three]~~ 3 years. After a file has been expunged, any response to an inquiry regarding a reference to the matter shall state that there is no record of such matter.

15. **Statements by the State Bar of Nevada.** Notwithstanding ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 121(1), the state bar may disseminate the procedural status and the general nature of a grievance or complaint upon request.

16. **Exclusions.** These rules shall not prohibit any complainant, the accused attorney, or any witnesses from discussing publicly the existence of the proceedings under these rules or the underlying facts related thereto. However, disclosures made under this subsection, in whatever form or by whatever means, outside the disciplinary process shall not be covered by the civil immunity afforded in **[Rule]** SCR 106(1).

17. **Protective orders.** In order to protect the interests of a complainant, witness, third party, or respondent attorney, the panel chair may, upon application of any person and for good cause shown, issue a protective order prohibiting the disclosure of specific information otherwise privileged or confidential and direct that the proceedings be conducted so as to implement the order, including requiring that the hearing be conducted in such a way as to preserve the confidentiality of the information that is the subject of the application.

Rule 121.1. Dissemination of license status, discipline and disability information.

1. **Entity responsible.** If the attorney's suspension was imposed under **[Rule]** SCR 93 for failure to pay state bar dues or under **[Rule]** SCR 214(1) for failure to timely complete TIP, then the state bar shall be responsible for issuing the notices required by **[Rule]** SCR 121.1(2) and (3). If the attorney's suspension was imposed under **[Rule]** SCR 212 for failure to comply with continuing legal education requirements, then the board of continuing legal education shall be responsible for issuing the notices required by **[Rule]** SCR 121.1(2) and (3). In ~~**[all other cases,]**~~ cases of admonition, reprimand, disciplinary suspension, disbarment, reinstatement, and transfers to or from

disability inactive status, bar counsel shall be responsible for issuing the notices required by ~~[Rule 121.1(2) and (3).]~~ SCR 121.1(2), (3), and (4).

2. Public notice of change in license status and discipline imposed. The entity responsible under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 121.1(1) shall cause notices of orders that subject an attorney to disbarment or any form of suspension, including suspension under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 93 or ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 212, or reprimand, that transfer an attorney to or from disability inactive status, that reinstate an attorney to the practice of law, or that approve an attorney's resignation, with or without discipline pending, to be published in the state bar ~~[publication.]~~ publication and on the website of the State Bar of Nevada. The responsible entity also shall make these notices available to a newspaper of general circulation in each judicial district of this state in which the attorney maintained an office for the practice of law or carried on a substantial portion of ~~[his or her]~~ their practice.

~~[The responsible entity shall also cause a notice of a public reprimand issued by the supreme court, or a letter of reprimand issued either by the supreme court or a disciplinary panel of the State Bar of Nevada, to be published in the state bar publication.]~~

The entity responsible for compliance with this provision has discretion in drafting public notices required by this rule, which may consist simply of the orders themselves. However, notices of orders that impose discipline should include sufficient information to adequately inform the public and members of the bar about the misconduct found, the rules violated, and the discipline imposed.

3. Notice to courts. The entity responsible under ~~[Rule]~~ SCR 121.1(1) shall promptly advise all courts in this state of orders that suspend or disbar an attorney, that transfer an attorney to or from disability inactive status, that

approve an attorney's resignation, or that reinstate an attorney to the practice of law.

4. ~~[Disclosure to National Discipline Data Bank.]~~ Notice to other disciplinary agencies. Bar counsel shall notify the National Discipline Data Bank maintained by the American Bar Association Standing Committee on Professional Discipline and the disciplinary enforcement agency of every other jurisdiction in which an attorney is admitted of all public discipline imposed ~~[by the supreme court]~~ on an attorney, transfers to or from disability inactive status, reinstatements to the practice of law, and resignations with discipline pending.

5. **Publication of supreme court orders.** The clerk of the supreme court shall cause any order issued by the supreme court that subjects an attorney to any form of public discipline including a ~~[letter of reprimand, public]~~ reprimand, ~~[suspension]~~ suspension, or disbarment, that transfers an attorney to or from disability inactive status, that approves an attorney's resignation, or that reinstates an attorney to the practice of law to be published in pamphlet form and disseminated to all subscribers of the advance sheets of the Nevada Reports and to all persons and agencies listed in NRS 2.345.

6. **Publication of ~~[public reprimand]~~ admonition** issued by ~~[state bar.]~~ screening panel. Bar counsel shall cause ~~[a public reprimand]~~ an admonition issued by ~~[the state bar under Rule 113]~~ a screening panel to be published in the state bar publication. The published admonitions shall not disclose the identity of the attorney and shall not be associated with the attorney on the State Bar of Nevada website.

Rule 122. Effective date.

These rules are effective on ~~[March 1, 2007;]~~ October 26, 2023; any disciplinary proceeding or matter either previously concluded, or pending on that date in which bar counsel has filed a formal complaint ~~[has been filed by bar counsel]~~ shall be governed by ~~[Rules]~~ SCR 99 to 122 ~~[et seq. of the Supreme Court Rules]~~ in effect prior to the effective date.